
Council for Northeast
Historical Archreology

NEWSLETTER
March 1997

CONTENTS

NUMBER 36 CALL FOR PAPERS,
1997 CNEHA ANNUAL MEETING

CALL FOR PAPERS 1
A NOTE OF THANKS 1
NEW YORK ARCHAEOLOGICAL COUNCIL 2
UPDATE-Northeast Historical Archaeology 2
NEWSLETTER EDITOR'S REPORT 2
UPCOMING CONFERENCES 3
INTERNET URLs 3
CURRENT RESEARCH

Connecticut 3
Massachusetts 4
New Hampshire 6
New York State 6
New Jersey 8
Delaware 8
Maryland 9
Virginia 10
Nova Scotia 13
Newfoundland and Labrador 14
Quebec 14

NEW PUBLICATIONS 15
SUMMER FIELD SCHOOLS 16
MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION 16

COUNCIL FOR NORTHEAST
HISTORICAL ARCHAEOLOGY

Chairman: Pierre Beaudet
Newsletter Editor:

David Starbuck
P.O. Box 147
Fort Edward, New York 12828
(518) 747-2926

Northeast Historical Archaeology seeks manuscripts deal­
ing with historical archaeology in the Northea~t region,
including field reports, artifact studies, and analytical pre­
sentations (e.g., physical anthropology, palynology, faunal
analysis, etc.). We also welcome commentary and opinion
pieces. To submit a manuscript or request preparation of
manuscript guidelines, write to Ann-Eliza Lewis,
Department of Archaeology, Boston University, 675
Commonwealth Avenue, Boston, MA 02215.

Papers are now requested for the 1997 Council for Northeast

Historical Archaeology Annual Meeting in Altoona, Pennsylvania.

The dual themes of the meeting are industrial archaeology and the

role of archaeologists in heritage tourism. Authors are encouraged

to submit abstracts for 25-minute papers on these topics. Papers
on current research in the historical archaeology of the northeast­

ern United States and the eastern provinces of Canada are also

requested. Send abstracts (150 words or fewer) to the Program
Chair by May 1, 1997: Karen Bescherer Metheny, Program
Chair, 44 Stedman St., Brookline, MA 02146.

Or, for more information about the conference, contact: Paula

Zitzler, RR 2, Box 325, Williamsburg, PA 16693-9736. Tel. (814)
832-9224.

JUST A NOTE OF THANKS!
Reported by: Sara F. Mascia, Executive Vice-Chair

Your membership in CNEHA is important. Earlier this year, the

CNEHA renewal forms were sent out to our membership, and I
hope that all of you will support the Council by renewing for 1997.

At our 1996 Annual Meeting in Albany, I was happy to report that
our membership is now the largest we have had to date.

The Council is committed to encouraging archaeological schol­

arship in the Northeast and to the dissemination of information
about the practice of archaeology on historical sites. Our commit­

ment has enabled us to keep our membership fees at the same low

rate while still maintaining the quality of our publications and

meetings. In 1997 the Council plans to continue to publish our

Newsletter and Journal as well as to offer to our members the new

Monograph series STUDIES IN NORTHEAST HISTORICAL

ARCHAEOLOGY. The 1997 annual meeting, the Council's thir­

ty-fITst, will be held in central Pennsylvania, and we hope to have

an exciting program for all who attend.

This is now the time when I am fortunate to say thank you for

your continued support of the Council in our endeavors. With

your help I believe the Council can continue to grow and provide

the membership with a unique opportunity to participate in an
international organization dedicated to the field of historical

archaeology.



PRESS RELEASE FROM THE NEW YORK
ARCHAEOLOGICAL COUNCIL

Albany, February 10, 1997: The New York Archaeological
Council (NYAC) today announced that it found it necessary to
begin legal proceedings to hold the Dormitory Authority of the
State of New York (DASNY) in contempt for its recent actions at
a downtown Albany archaeological site. An Order to Show Cause
was issued on February 7,1997. NYAC contends that DASNY
destroyed portions of the Dutch community of Beverwyck dating
from the mid-17th century. NYAC had commenced a proceeding
in October 1996 challenging DASNY's failure to comply with
legal requirements concerning the study and mitigation of
Albany's priceless historical site. The case was settled by a stipu­
lation among the parties which was ordered by Justice Teresi on
October 21, 1996. The agreement required DASNY to give pref­
erence to archaeology during construction of its headquarters.

NYAC claims that DASNY constructed its sewer lines in what
archaeologists consider an extraordinarily rich area of the site, in
clear violation of Justice Teresi's Order. The value of this
resource is confirmed by the archaeological work done to date by
DASNY's consultant. Charles Cobb, NYAC's former President
who closely monitors progress at the site, stated: "This unique site
contained well preserved archaeological remains from Native
American and Dutch settlers living in and around the 17th century
settlements of Beverwyck and Fort Orange." Archaeologists agree
that this site is one of the most important sites in the early
European settlement of North America. The site represents the
only Dutch residential and commercial area which has been inves­
tigated during this period in the United States. Preservation and
promotion of Albany's early Dutch heritage can have a positive
effect on economic developmcnt by producing an attractive and
uniquc tourist destination.

Cobb, who serves as NYAC's lead representative for this site,
stated, 'These areas of the site have been irreparably damaged hy
this latest construction. DASNY's actions, which wcre entirely
unnecessary, warrant the imposition of a suhstantial penalty. The
loss to the public and to the scientific commLinity is immeasurable.
Archaeological investigation, research and analysis of our nation's
heritage can and must be incorporated into the design and planning
of development projects at the earliest practical time in order to
allow both to proceed responsibly. NYAC hopes this measure will
be received and understood by DASNY." NYAC is seeking fines
and damages in the amount of $200,000 to punish DASNY for its
actions. Archaeological deposits are fragile resources and, once
removed, can never be reconstructed. Unfortunately, Albany has
again lost an irreplaceable portion of its unique heritage.

NYAC is represented by Carl G. Dworkin and Marc S.
Gerstman. For more information, contact Charles Cobb at (607)
777-2487.

UPDATE-
Northeast Historical Archaeology

Reported by: Mary C. Beaudry, Editor

I am pleased to report that production of Volume 25 is now well
in hand. We have an interesting mix of articles and reviews that
should have wide appeal. These range from a forum on archaeolo­
gists' involvement in relocation of historic burials, a report on a
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19th-century medical deposit, an overview of remote sensing in
National Parks, a research note on Colono ware, and a report on
brickyards at the John Jay Homestead. We expect to have the
1996 issue of the journal in the mail to you by late spring.

Another bit of extremely good news concerns the Council's new
monograph series. Lorinda Goodwin is making excellent progress
on production of our first offering: Moclw, Banded, Cat's Eye,
and Other Factory-Made Slipware by Lynne Sussman. This work
is a major contribution to ceramic history and will be of great inter­
est to all of our members as well as to many non-archaeologists.
We are very excited, very pleased to inaugurate our monograph
series with Lynne's wonderful monograph.

NEWSLETTER EDITOR'S REPORT
Reported by: David Starbuck, Newsletter Editor

Please send news for the next issue of the CNEHA Newsletter
by June I to the appropriate provincial or state editor:

Provincial Editors:

ATLANTIC CANADA: Rob Ferguson, Parks Canada, Upper
Water Street, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3J IS9.

ONTARlO: Dena Doroszenko, C-173 Delaware Ave., Toronto,
Ontario M6H 21'2.

QUEBEC: Monique Elie, 840 Sir Adolphe Routhier, Quebec,
Quebec GIS 3P3.

State Editors:

CONNECTICUT: Cece Saunders, Historical Perspectives, P.O.
Box 3037, Westport, CT 06880-9998.

DELAWARE: Lu Ann Dc Cunzo, Dept. of Anthropology,
University of Delaware, Newark, DEL 19716.

MAINE: Emerson Baker, RR#3, 219 River Road, Biddeford, ME
04005.

MARYLAND: Silas Hurry, Box 39, St. Mary's City, MD 20686.

MASSACHUSETTS: Karen Bescherer Metheny, 44 Stedman St.,
Brookline, MA 02146

NEW HAMPSHIRE: David R. Starbuck, P.O. Box 147, Fort
Edward, NY 12828.

NEW JERSEY: Lynn Rakos, US Army Corps of Engineers,
CENAN-PL-EA, 26 Federal Plaza, New York, NY 10278.

NEW YORK CITY: Diane Dallal, Archaeological Director of
New York Unearthed, The City Archaeology Museum (A Program
of the South Street Seaport Museum), 17 State St., New York, NY
10004.

NEW YORK STATE: Lois Feister, New York State Bureau of
Historic Sites, Peebles Island, Waterford, NY 12188.
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PENNSYLVANIA: Paula Zitzler, 45 Aspen Ct., Cresson, PA
16630.

RHODE ISLAND: James Garman, The Public Archaeology
Laboratory Inc., 210 Lonsdale Avenue, Pawtucket, RI 02860.

VERMONT: William Murphy, P.O. Box 28, East Middlebury,
VT 05740.

VIRGINIA: Barbara Heath, The Corporation for Jefferson's
Poplar Forest, P.O. Box 419, Forest, VA 24551.

WEST VIRGINIA: John T. Eddins, 7154 Meadow Lane,
Gainesville, VA 22065-2557.

UPCOMING CONFERENCES

CNEA

The Conference on New England Archaeology (CNEA) invites
new and current members to join us for our 16th annual confer­
ence, "Creating and Interpreting New England's Environments."
The conference will be held on April 26, 1997, at Old Sturbridge
Village. Sturbridge, Massachusetts, beginning at 8:30 A.M.
CNEA membership annual dues (US $12) include the conference
registration fee and subscription to the CNEA Newsletter. Non­
members' conference registration is US $8. Dues or the non-mem­
ber conference registration fee may be paid at the door, or sent in
advance to Paul Robinson, Treasurer, RI Historic Preservation
Commission, 150 Benefit Street, Providence, RI02903 (Tel. 401
277-2678).

The CNEA was founded in 1979 to foster communication
among archaeologists, preservationists, and historians, and to
bridge the subdisciplines of prehistoric, historical, and industrial
archaeology by examining common themes and approaches to
New England's past. The CNEA holds an annual conference and
publishes the biannual CNEA Newsletter, containing insightful
articles, summaries of current research, announcements, requests
for information, and listings of new publications. Submissions to
the CNEA Newsletter may be sent to Eric Johnson, Editor,
Department of Anthropology, UMass Amherst, Amherst, MA
01003 (Tel. 413 545-1552).

Treasures to Trash

Portsmouth, New Hampshire, promises to be a mecca this sum­
mer for ceramics collectors and lovers of antique tableware.

June 18 through October 31, fifteen historic house museums will
cooperate in an unprecedented, region-wide exhibition and series
of lectures to tell the story of this area's household ceramics as
imported from 1690 to 1870.

Entitled "Treasures to Trash; Early Ceramics of the Portsmouth
Region", these special displays will be based on extensive archae­
ological evidence which matches many "below-ground" broken
bowls, plates, etc. to their "above-ground" surviving intact ceram­
ic treasures.

As designed by well-known ceramic historians, Carl L.
Crossman and Louise Richardson, each museum's display will
shed its own special light on the China Trade, ceramic technology
and on changing social and cultural attitudes.
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This unique collaboration is sponsored by Historic Associates­
a collection of six independent house museums-and is being car­
ried out in cooperation with Strawbery Banke Museum, SPNEA
(The Society for the Preservation of New England Antiquities),
and the historic houses of Old York Historical Society in Maine.

Also unusual will be the neighborly interloaning of choice
ceramic pieces among the fifteen historic houses so that all dis­
plays will achieve a high degree of excellence and historical
appropriateness. Strawbery Banke's archaeological department
will lend hundreds of sherds and some reconstructed pieces. A
number of seldom-seen historical ceramics will also be on loan
from private collectors.

An exhibition such as this will serve to further enhance a group
of historical Portsmouth and York houses which are already
famous for their architecture and superb antiques collections.

As an added feature of this project, there will be two different
lecture series on early ceramics to be held this summer in
Portsmouth and in York. In the fall, Strawbery Banke will offer a
comprehensive ceramics symposium.

For more details, contact: Patricia Q. Wall, P.O. Box 39, Kittery
Point, ME 03905. Tel. (207) 439-2878.

INTERNET URLs
Reported by: Paul R. Huey

Two Internet URLs that may be of interest to CNEHA readers
are, first, the New York State Library homepage through which
one can access the complete texts (minus illustrations and indexes)
of a number of recent archaeological reports and bibliographies
relating to research at the New York State Historic Sites. There are
reports on Philipse Manor Hall, Schuyler Mansion, Crown Point,
DIana, John Jay Homestead, Johnson Hall, and Peebles Island.
The address is: ftp://unix2.nysed.gov/pub/nys.agency.pubs/parks

Also, there is a homepage for the (Dutch) Dormitory Authority
site in Albany: http://www.wizvax.netllynjaxldasny.html

CURRENT RESEARCH

Connecticut
Reported by: Cece Saunders

Town Studies I

Stuart Reeve has conducted archaeological assessment surveys
of the Raymond Family burial ground, Darien, and at the
Dodgingtown Cemetery, Newtown. He is also active in Redding
where public interest in cultural resource preservation has
increased as a result of subdivision proposals in the vicinity of the
Revolutionary War encampments in the town, the reopening of the
Putnam Memorial State Park, and the proposed expansion plans of
the Congregational Church on the Redding Green. The Town of
Redding is presently considering an amendment to their subdivi­
sion ordinance to require cultural resources surveys.

Town Studies II

Archaeological Research Specialists (ARS) has completed pre­
liminary investigation of the L. D. Alexander Brickyard in
Killingly (late 19th/early 20th century). ARS is currently con-



ducting intensive investigations of cartographic, documentary and
archaeological resources related to as many as four 19th century
farmsteads in Ansonia. In Meriden, ARS has recently monitored
construction activities to ensure the preservation of 19th century
human burials at the former Connecticut State School for Boys.
For more details, contact ARS: Tel. (203) 237-4777; Fax (203)
237-4667; e-mail archres@ctl.nai.net

Massachusetts
Reported by: Karen Bescherer Metheny

Spencer-Peirce-Little Farm, Newbury

As part of the 1996 field season, volunteers and students
enrolled in a Boston University field school and a workshop run
cooperatively with the Lincoln-Sudbury High School explored the
northern perimeter of the farmyard and conducted extensive test­
ing in an adjacent field. The field work was directed by Mary
Beaudry, and Carolyn White served as assistant director and teach­
ing fellow; the project is co-sponsored and partly funded by the
Society for the Preservation of New England Antiquities. A num­
ber of interesting features were discovered, among them several
stone-and-clay pads whose purpose remains unclear. The northern
boundary of the yard is depicted in 19th-century photographs as a
solid board fence that served as a windbreak and support for
grapevines. The fence was one element of an extensive reshaping
of the farmyard by longtime tenant-turned-owner Edward Henry
Little, seemingly begun shortly after he and his wife Catherine
paid off their mortgage in 1865. Subsurface evidence of this fence
consisted of a shallow trench into which the boards had been set
vertically, side-by· side. Only one posthole was found in the units
that crossed the fence line; this was placed several feet behind the
fence and, if associated with it, represents a buttress type of sup­
port rather than a post incorporated into the run of the fence. The
wood of the fence was partially preserved in the ditch. The back­
fill of the trench consisted of masses of household debris, mainly
glass and ceramics, all dating to the 1860s or earlier. It seems like­
ly that the artifacts were incorporated into the trench fill deliber­
ately, to promote drainage; this is the second feature at the site that
points to a deliberate accumulation of household rubbish (a
"resource pile" rather than a trash heap?) for use in construction.
(The other example is a crocking deposit in a privy constructed ca.
1800.)

Apart from white granite or ironstone and many fragments from
a 3rd quarter of the 18th century Westerwald-type stoneware wide­
mouthed storage jar, the deposit also has most of the fragments
from a rather grotesque teapot. It is a dry-bodied stoneware with
clots of dark brown glaze (an effect achieved by oiling the pot
before the glaze was applied). It seems likely the teapot is a
Japanese product whose design is in keeping with the 19th-centu­
ry "cult of rusticity." Analysis of the materials in the trench back­
fill is in progress.

Up against the tenant farmer's house at SPL we found undis­
turbed 18th-century strata sealed beneath the sandy soil thrown up
during the cellar excavation for the tenant house, which was built
in 1797 as a stable or brewhouse. These layers do not exist across
most of the back yard because of all of Edward Henry Little's
heavy-handed alterations to the farmyard. [submitted by Mary C.
Beaudry]
New England Redware Symposium

Archaeologists, collectors, and others interested in New England
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redware pottery gathered at Old Sturbridge Village on November
16, 1996, for a day-long program entitled "Following the Slip
Trail: An Investigation of New England Redware Pottery." The
symposium featured speakers and presentations on various aspects
of this common historical household artifact. Malcolm Watkins,
Curator Emeritus of the Department of Cultural History, Museum
of American History, Smithsonian Institution, and the first curator
at Old Sturbridge Village, presented an illustrated lecture on New
England redware pottery, drawing on years of extensive research
and collecting. He also highlighted the work of his mother, Lura
Woodside Watkins, whose book, Early New England Potters and
Their Wares, remains a landmark study today. Part of Ms.
Watkins' research into redware manufacture included archaeolog­
ical excavation and/or the examination of kiln sites that were being
destroyed by construction. This part of Malcolm Watkins' lecture
was particularly illuminating for archaeologists in the audience
since so little of this aspect of Ms. Watkins' work has been pub­
lished.

John Worrell, who was for many years the Director of Research
and Staff Archaeologist at Old Sturbridge Village, made a presen­
tation on one of his centerpiece projects at OSV: the recreation of
the Hervey Brooks redware pottery shop and kiln. His lecture
illustrated how many aspects of this redware potter's work envi­
ronment were recreated, drawing on an anthropological scrutiny of
documents, archaeological artifacts, comparative research, and
experimental redware production, and then brought to life with the
help of costumed interpreters at the Village.

Douglas Hawes, the curator of Historical Collections at the
Maine State Museum in Augusta, presented his research on the
potter Joseph Philbrick, who plied his trade in the rural communi­
ty of Skowhegan, Maine, from 1830-1860. Using Philbrick's day­
book as a guide, Doug provided an excellent documentation of
economic relationships within the community and showed how the
specifics of Philbrick's production practices fit into them. Thc
forms of redware made by Philbrick closely reflected changes in
dairying practices, changes in attitude about the use of redware
versus tinware and saltglaze, as well as the endurance of tradition­
al redware forms (such as milk pans) into the second half of the
19th century.

Workshops offered a close look at a sampling of redware ves­
sels in the collections of OSV, with discussion provided by OSV
curators Nan Franklin and Frank White; a demonstration of slip
trailing by OSV Museum Interpreter Mary Ellen Radziewicz; and
a close look at materials excavated by OSV staff at several redware
pottery sites, by John Worrell and by David Simmons, OSV
Archaeologist and Director of Visitor Services. To top off the
day's program, interpreters fired up the reproduction redware kiln
at the Hervey Brooks pottery exhibit and turned pots in the Brooks
shop. [Submitted by Ed Hood, OSVj

UMass Archaeological Services

Eric Johnson of UMass Archaeological Services recently sub­
mitted to the National Park Service a draft report entitled
Archaeological Ovenliew and Assessment of Cape Cod National
Seashore. The report reviews historical and prehistoric resources
within the park and provides summaries of previous work, as well
as evaluations and recommendations for the future. The report
will serve as an overall document for management purposes and as
an aid to researchers. A draft report/management document for
Lowell National Historic Park, completed this past summer, is
under review as well.



Boston Citywide Comprehensive Industrial Survey

Phase I of the Citywide Comprehensive Industrial Survey of the
City of Boston's historical industrial resources is being performed
by The Public Archaeology Laboratory, Inc. (PAL) for the Boston
Landmarks Commission (BLC). The project is funded jointly by
the City of Boston, a Certified Local Government, and by
Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Survey and
Planning Grant funds administered by the Massachusetts
Historical Commission (MHC).

Virginia H. Adams, Senior Architectural Historian and Director
of Architectural Projects at PAL, is responsible for overseeing the
project. She is assisted by PAL staff members Matthew Kierstead,
Industrial Historian; Nicholas Avery, Architectural Historian;
Mary Kate Harrington and Joshua Safdie, Project Assistanl~; and
Kirk VanDyke, photographer and researcher. Project Coordinator
for the City is Maura FitzPatrick of the BLC.

The objective of this project is to complete a comprehensive sur­
vey of Boston's historical industrial-architectural resources to
assist the City with the incorporation of historic preservation plan­
ning into a variety of overall planning concerns and area~. The
project scope involves the preparation of MHC Area forms for 12
industrial districts and MHC Individual Building forms for 3 indi­
vidual properties located in the city of Boston. So far, 211 prop­
erties have been identified for survey throughout Charlestown,
Ea~t Boston, South Boston, the Reserved Channel Area, Boston
Proper, Roxbury, Hyde Park, and the Neponset River Corridor
Area. Half of the 12 survey areas are associated with Boston's role
as a seaport. These areas include facilities for the trans-shipment
and processing of raw bulk materials, food production, storage,
warehouses, and rail-ship intermodal transportation. The majority
of identified sites date from 1875-1945, with masonry and con­
crete construction predominating.

The project scope includes research to determine the archaeo­
logical potential of two locations. The "Boston East" site is a
vacant lot on Border Street in East Boston, in what is being called
the Inner Harbor Area. This lot was the site of two mid-19th-cen­
tury clipper ship yards, Samuel Hall's 1847 Ea~t Boston Drydock
Company, and possibly a portion of Donald McKay's 1863 ship­
yard. Hall and McKay were two of the most important clipper ship
builders in an industry that saw its peak on this waterfront in the
early I850s. The Neponset River Area is a section of the Lower
Neponset River between Mattapan Square and Sturbridge Street.
Research indicates the existence of late 18th- and 19th-century
mills along this stretch of the river.

At this time, 6 districts and 2 individual sites have been surveyed
and photographed, one draft MHC Area form has been completed
for the Inner Harbor Area in East Boston, and documentary
research has been performed to some extent for all 12 districts.
Field survey and research are ongoing, with the final product due
at the end of June 1997. [Submitted by Matthew Kierstead, PAL,
Inc.]

Central Artery Project, Boston

Reports of Phase ill investigations conducted by Timelines, Inc.,
for the Central Artery project in Boston are still under review at the
MHC (see November 1996 newsletter). Final reports on the Mill
Pond Site (MAS# BOS-HA-14) and Paddy's Alley/Cross Street
Backlot (MAS# BOS-HA-12/13), when available, may be
obtained by contacting One South Station, Boston, MA 02110.
Dr. Robert Hasentab, of Bechtel, Parsons, and Brinckerhoff,
reports that no significant features were identified over the winter
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months while monitoring construction areas. Documentation con­
tinues of high seawalls along the Fort Point Channel that are being
destroyed by Central Artery construction (one major section was
recently demolished after documentation). Surveys continue on
Spectacle Island and Long Island along proposed utility lines.
Intensive survey of the northern terminus of the Central Artery
project area is also underway.

Artifacts from the Central Artery Project are being transferred
to the University of Massachusetts-Boston for permanent curation
and storage. According to Steve Mrozowski, Associate Professor
of Anthropology at UMass-Boston, the collections will be jointly
curated by the State Archaeologist, Massachusetts Historical
Commission (MHC), and by UMass-Boston at the Massachusetts
State Archives and Commonwealth Museum. The collections con­
tain materials dating from the 17th to 19th centuries, as well as
prehistoric materials from the Harbor Islands. A conservation lab
will be established at UMass, and the collections will eventually be
developed for research purposes and for the benefit of graduate
and undergraduate students in the historical archaeology program
at UMass-Boston.

City Archaeology Program, Boston

The Education and Curation Center of the City Archaeology
Laboratory, located at 152 North Street, Boston, has been upgrad­
ed and stabilized. It is open for tours and field trips Monday­
Friday, 9 a.m. - 5 p.m., by appointment, and on weekends for spe­
cial occasions. Call Ellen Berkland at (617) 635-3850.

Many new projects are underway at the City Archaeology
Program (CAP). If you are interested in becoming a volunteer for
the program, please contact Ellen at the number listed above.
Exhibits are being planned and projects developed for a
Preservation Week (May II-May 17) Open House, scheduled for
Thursday, May 15 at the North End lab. Plans are also underway
for a City Archaeology Program Web Page, as well as a virtual
museum. CAP is also responsible for the management of the
gravestones collected from historic cemeteries in Boston by the
Historic Burying Grounds Initiative, Parks and Recreation
Department. Volunteers are presently documenting recently
acquired markers. [Submitted by Ellen Berkland]

Massachusetts Archaeological Society, Boston Chapter

The Boston Chapter of the MAS met several times this past win­
ter. On November 20, Program Chair Dave Treemarcki presented
a slide-illustrated talk on "Old Railroad Stations in New England."
Michael Gibbons of UMass-Boston presented a program entitled
"Forensic Evidence From Human Burials" on December 18. On
January 15, Jim Garman of The Public Archaeology Lab, Inc. pre­
sented a talk entitled "The Providence Place Mall Site."
Summaries of these presentations can be found in the monthly
Newsletter of the Boston Chapter, Massachusetts Archaeological
Society, which is available to members. For membership informa­
tion, contact Toni Wallace at (617) 965-4431, or Polly Stevens at
(617) 623-0953. If you would like to present a talk to the Boston
chapter, please call David Treemarcki at (617) 289-5607. Chapter
meetings are held on the third Wednesday of each month at
Harvard University's Van Serg Hall at 7:30 P.M. New members
are welcome. [Submitted by Ellen Berkland]

Lowell

The Overseer's Block of the Lawrence Manufacturing Company



was investigated last summer by The Public Archaeology
Laboratory, Inc. (PAL) and Stephen Mrozowski of UMass­
Boston. The data recovery project was conducted for the City of
Lowell in preparation for construction of a hockey rink.
Archaeologists uncovered intact landscape and architectural fea­
tures spanning the period ca. 1845-1920, as well as intact prehis­
toric remains beneath 19th-century fill layers brought in by the
company for landscaping prior to the construction of the boarding
house. A report has been completed and an article describing the
project will appear in a book edited by Jim Dell, Robert Paynter,
and Steve Mrozowski.

The University of Ma~sachusettsPress and the Lowell Historic
Preservation Commission recently released a publication that
serves as both an introduction to the field of historical archaeolo­
gy and a summary of the archaeological investigations undertaken
at the Boott Mills in Lowell in the 1980s. Entitled Living on the
Boott: Historical Archaeology at the Boott Mills Boardinghouses,
Lowell, Massachusetts, by Stephen A. Mrozowski, Grace H.
Zeising, and Mary C. Beaudry (1996), the book is a distillation of
the three-volume site report generated by investigations of the
boardinghouses and the Kirk Street Agents' House by the National
Park Service and the Center for Archaeological Studies at Boston
University.

New Hampshire
Reported by: Carolyn White

Strawbery Banke:

James House: The James House Archaeology Project is a coop­
erative program between the James House Association of
Hampton, New Hampshire, a group of community volunteers who
seek to restore and preserve the building for the future, and
Strawbery Banke Museum of Portsmouth, New Hampshire.
Funding for the James House Archaeology Project was providcd
through a grant by the Ncw Hampshire State Office of Planning
and the Coastal Zone Management Program. The James House
was constructed ca. 1720 and the site contains deposits relating to
the continuous occupation by the James and CanJpbell families
from the early 1700s to 1974. Phase 1 and II excavations took
place during August 1996 under the direction of Principal
Investigator Martha Pinello and Co-project Archaeologists
Terrance LaPointe, Steve Bayley, and Peggy Wishart, with the
assistance of 25 volunteers. Archaeological testing was conduct··
ed around the main house and ell to evaluate the perimeter and sur­
rounding area for installment of a drainage system. The excava­
tions revealed architectural and landscape features including sev­
eral foundations, a chimney base, a stone wall, yard surfaces, post­
holes, a planting area, and a trash midden. The artifacts recovered
range in date from the 17th to 20th centuries and reOect the daily
activities of the occupants, particularly in relation to food prepara­
tion, serving, and storage. Carolyn White and Allison Coming are
currently analyzing the materials from the excavation at Strawbery
Banke Museum. Additional work at the James House is planned
for the upcoming year. [submitted by Carolyn White]

Shapiro House and Warner House: The Archaeology Division
of Strawbery Banke Museum has undertaken the Shapiro project.
Becoming American places emphasis on the adaptation and accul­
turation of a Russian Jewish immigrant family at the beginning of
this century. The Shapiros lived in a house located on Strawbery
Banke grounds during the years 1908 to 1928, a time period when
Puddle Dock was occupied by a vibrant Jewish Community. The
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team excavated during the 1995 and 1996 seasons, and has used
the finds to research the ways that the family adjusted to their new
country and home. Examples of artifacts found relate to leisure
time, such as game pieces and toys, and to the furnishings of the
house, such as lamps, food service and table wares. The Shapiros
kept a Kosher kitchen, educated their child, Mollie, in the ways of
the Jewish people, and physically placed mezuzahs, one found in
the house, on each door frame to constantly remind them of their
culture. They also incorporated western education, clothing, and
other traditions into their lives. The house, interpreted to the year
1919, opens July 4, 1997.

The Warner Project will be led by Archaeologists Martha
Pinello, of Strawbery Banke and Rick Morris, of the University of
Maine, Orono. The Warner House, located near the center of
Portsmouth, was built in 1716. The house was occupied from
1742 to 1814 by members of the mercantile and political elite,
which included Colonial Governor Benning Wentworth and
Merchant Warner. The work that began in 1996 will continue with
this year's field school from July 21 to August I, 1997. The pro­
ject continues to investigate 18th and 19th century landscape as
well as to help solve the moisture problem that the building is fac­
ing. Carl L. Crossman has been able to match sherds found at the
site to whole and reconstructed vessels, which adds great dimen­
sion to the knowledge of the ceramics used by the residents of the
house and the larger community of Portsmouth. Carl Crossman
and Louise Richardson are Co-Curators of the ceramics exhibit,
Treasures to Trash, which will incorporate all of the historic hous­
es in Portsmouth. This exhibit will open June 18, 1997. [submit­
ted by Rebecca McKernan and Catherine H. Lapsley1

For more infonnation on these projects and Treasures to Trash,
contact the Archaeology Division, PO Box 300, Portsmouth NH
03801; call (603) 422-7521 or visit our website at
http://wwwsc.library.unh.edu/specoll/Sbankelhomepagec.html.

New York State
Reported by: Lois Feister

Controversy over Dutch Site in Downtown Albany

An empty lot in the official "Archeological Historic District" of
downtown Albany was chosen as the location for a new state office
building by the New York State Dormitory Authority. Preliminary
archaeological work there by Hartgen Archeological Associates of
Troy, New York, revealed the presence of 17th and 18th century
cultural deposits. Hartgen' s report, submitted in July 1996, rec­
ommendcd further archaeological investigations at the site. In
September, the Dormitory Authority without consultation with the
SHPO Office gave Hartgen only a few days to complete the Stage
II work and instructed her to work only on a small part of the orig­
inal site. Hartgen refused the project, and Collamer & Associates
of Albany, New York, was given the work.

The New York Archaeological Council (NYAC) then filed a suit
against the state to block the project. In State Supremc Court, the
judge ordered construction halted until both sides could reach
agreement. The outcome was that Collamer & Associates has con­
tinued working at the site, monitoring the digging of numerous pil­
ings, but with the authorization to halt construction and excavate
whenever such action seemed warranted. Robert Kuhn of the
SHPO Office wa~ appointed as court representative. He or his rep­
resentative visited the site twice a day to ensure the archaeologists
were able to carry out their function. As a result, a drainage fea­
ture dating to the 17th century and filled with late 17th century



artifacts was found and excavated. Privies dating to the 18th cen­
tury also were recorded and excavated, one belonging to promi­
nent Albanian Abraham Yates. In addition, numerous artifacts
from both time periods were discovered.

Collamer & Associates is now analyzing the results of the pro­
ject in order to produce a report. Meanwhile, great interest in the
project has continued both in Albany and as far away as the
Netherlands where the story has been featured in major newspa­
pers. That nation's secretary of education and culture visited the
site along with a delegation of Dutch journalists and other digni­
taries. And the Dormitory Authority has been instructed by the
Supreme Court judge to re-examine its preservation procedures.

Fort Edward Project Continues to Yield Artifacts

The Adirondack Community College field school, under the
direction of David Starbuck, continued its six-year-long project of
excavations at the site of 18th-eentury Fort Edward. The estimat­
ed 60 volunteers and students who worked this year discovered
many artifacts dating to the first half of the 18th century, as well
as a 2-foot-diameter stone well. Three fireplaces in a row, each sit­
uated exactly 34 feet apart, have been uncovered. Starbuck's the­
ory is that these were used to heat the fort's western barracks, a
long building housing hundreds of soldiers. If his theory proves
correct, the hospital building, a particular interest of Starbuck's,
should be uncovered next. The excavation also is proving attrac­
tive to tourists.

Old Forts Ferry and Remnants of the Erie Canal Found

An archaeological study in the Vischers Ferry Nature Preserve
along the Mohawk River for a water improvement project ha~

revealed parts of the walls of the original, early 19th century Erie
Canal and the remains of an outbuilding associated with the Esther
and Rachel Fort houses. The Fort family settled in the area in
1728; the area first was settled in 1672. The project wa~ directed
by Andre Krievs of Hartgen Archeological Associates. The water
lines will be realigned so as not to cause further damage to the
resources.

Black Soldiers Exhumed at Fort William Henry

Of three bodies exhumed at 18th-eentury Fort William Henry,
one proved to be that of a black soldier and the other of mixed race.
Brenda Baker, forensic anthropologist at the New York State
Museum, supervised the exhumation and is doing the analysis.
Volunteer archaeologist Scott Padeni also is researching an article
on black soldiers in the French and Indian War, discovering in the
process that blacks served in great numbers in the war in capaci­
ties such as boatman, ranger, and company clerk, not just as labor­
ers and servants. Baker says that none of the three show signs of
traumatic injury so they probably did not die in battle. All were
between the ages of 25 and 40 and showed wear and tear from
infections and broken limbs. The black man was about 5-foot-6,
25 to 30 years old, and once suffered from a severe case of
osteomyelitis. The second man was 5-foot-3 with extremely well­
developed muscle attachments, suggesting he was used to lifting
heavy loads. Small fragments of woolen cloth found in the graves
contained dessicated fly larvae, suggesting the bodies were buried
after they'd begun to decompose.
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Searching for Greenhouse Remains at Mills Mansion State
Historic Site

A mapping and limited excavation project was undertaken by
Chris Lindner of Bard College at Mills Mansion State Historic Site
in Staatsburg, New York. The work was funded by the site's
Friends group. The purpose was to locate the buried walls of the
extensive 20th-eentury greenhouse complex. This was accom­
plished by the use of informants, probes, and limited testing.
Clusters of greenhouses used by Ogden Mills and his wife to grow
violets, cantaloupes, and other species of flowers were known to
exist in a terraced area between the house and the Hudson River.
Before excavation began, Lindner and assistants Barbara Majovski
and Mary Burns conducted documentary research. Bums, a grad­
uate student, located the 1931 survey map of the property. With
the help of the map, the crew was able to stake out two clusters of
five greenhouses each. However, they also located more than the
1931 map showed. A third cluster of two greenhouses and an
apparent furnace house also were found.

Underwater Projects in the Lake Champlain Area

The Lake Champlain Maritime Museum at Basin Harbor Inc.
reports progress on several fronts during 1996. As previously
reported here, the group, under the leadership of LCMM Director
Art Cohn, continued its involvement with the Port Henry Iron
Mines project. Investigations into the flooded mines revealed the
existence of an ore cart and other artifacts. With the help of Port
Henry town officials, the project received a technical assistance
grant from the Lake Champlain Basin Program, and a series of
dives began. The cavern was mapped and its contents, using pho­
tographic and video documentation, were recorded. Drawings of
the ore cart are being finished, so that the high school can build an
exact replica. Port Henry, located in the center of the Adirondack
iron mining area, is planning a new museum.

The LCMM also continued its systematic examination of the
entire bottom of Lake Champlain. The team used state-of-the-art
remote sensing equipment to survey more than forty square miles
of lake bottom. Working on the specially equipped RN Neptune
owned by veteran lake researcher Fred Fayette, the survey team
used side-scanning sonar, guided by Differential Global
Positioning System (OOPS). The data gathering process utilized
new systems of data-capture and post processing computer pro­
grams so that the information was stored in multiple forms for
immediate as well as future analysis. At least ten additional ship­
wrecks were discovered and a huge volume of information col­
lected about the lake's geology. The accelerated survey was
planned in response to the inva~ion of zebra mussels. The survey
was supported by the Lake Champlain Basin Program, funding
from the EPA and the National Park Service, and by the Lintilhac
Foundation and a second Vermont foundation which wishes to
remain anonymous. Analysis has begun, and plans are underway
for the 1997 season which will focus on three specific areas.

The LCMM also continued its involvement with the City of
BUrlington's Barge Canal, the city's controversial Superfund site.
The basin had become the location of 20th-eentury industrial
dumping, but a study was needed to locate and identify submerged
cultural resources from earlier time periods. Art Cohn, using spe­
cial protective contaminated-water diving equipment with the help
of Scott McLaughlin and David Andrews, staged a series of dives
to determine what the submerged resources were. Five intact late
19th century canal boats in remarkably good condition and two
marine railways for hauling boats out of the water were found



using a side-scan survey. Documentation by measurement and
videotape of all targets was undertaken. A comprehensive histor­
ical research study to evaluate the site's significance is planned.

New Jersey
Reported by: Lynn Rakos

Baker-Brearley House, Township of Lawrence,
Mercer County

In the fall of 1996, in connection with proposed renovation
work, Hunter Research, Inc., under contract to the Township of
Lawrence and the Lawrenceville Historical Society, conducted
archaeological investigations at the 1761 Baker-Brearley House
with the prime objective of locating foundations of the kitchen
wing. The house, a National Register property, is one of the more
northerly examples of the substantial Georgian brick farmhouses
which are typical of the counties of 18th century West Jersey.
Following a preliminary survey and remote sensing investigation,
which employed metal-detecting and ground-penetrating radar
technology, a total of tcn excavation units were examincd at dif­
ferent locations around the house. The well-preserved kitchen
wing, a two-room structure 15 by 30 feet in plan, had substantial
stone foundations and was attached to the main house at the south
end of the east gable wal!. The date of construction of the kitchen
cannot be precisely determined, but clearly took place sometime
after the main house and prior to 1845. A date in the second
decade of the 19th century is favored on general historical
grounds. Other excavation explored the possibility of other door­
ways and of an earlier kitchen structure. Neither of these possibil­
ities was confirmed, but a short length of walling predating the
kitchen was found to the south of the main house, which might be
related to a house documented on the property by 1722. Over
1200 artifacts were recovered, including a small quantity of pre­
bistoric material. The historic collection provides a useful sample
of the material culture of tbe occupants from 1761 onwards.
[Submitted by Hunter Research, Inc., Trenton, NJ.]

Thomas Ediwn State College, City of Trenton,
Mercer County

In the fall of 1996, Hunter Research, Inc., in connection with
upcoming expansion and renovation work, under contract to
Gibson Architects, for the New Jersey Division of Building and
Construction, conducted an archaeological data recovery at
Thomas Edison State College. Archaeological work uncovered
substantial remains of one of the first colonial iron and steel work­
ing complexes in New Jersey, the Harrow/Yard plating milL This
mill, established between 1731 and 1734 by Isaac Harrow, an
English blacksmith and Quaker from Philadelphia, was apparently
the first plating mill in the colony of New Jersey and one of the
earliest metal fabricating operations in the region. It was located
on the edge of Petty's Run, a minor tributary of the Delaware
River, that is now buried in a culvert beneath Mahlon Stacy Park.
The northeast corner of the plating mill building, approximately 45
by 25 feet in plan, was exposed by the excavations. The founda­
tions survive to a depth of over 12 feet, and the base of a first floor
window was identified in the east gable end of the building. The
interior walls of the mill were plastered. The excavations also
revealed useful detail on the prehistoric and pre-urban topography
in this section of Trenton, showing that the contours of the colo­
niallandscape bore little resemblance to the ground surface that is
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visible today. Analysis of the elevation data indicates that the mill
was probably powered by an undershot wheel that was most like­
ly positioned on the west wall of the building, possibly directly
within the channel of Petty's Run. These discoveries imply that
much of the remainder of the plating mill may be well preserved
within Mahlon Stacy Park. The layout of the entire building and
locations of the waterwheel and interior features, such as hearths,
anvils, doors, etc., may all be recoverable. [Submitted by Hunter
Research, Inc., Trenton, NJ.]

Delaware
Reported by: Lu Ann De Cunzo

Phase I Archaeological Survey, County Route 64, Smyrna
Landing, Duck Creek Hundred, Kent County

In the fall of 1996, Hunter Research, Inc., under contract to the
Delaware Department of Transportation, conducted a Phase I
archaeological survey in connection with the proposed bridge
replacement in Smyrna Landing, on the Kent County side of Duck
Creck, Delaware. The community of Smyrna Landing was a sig­
nificant transhipment point for grain and other produce for the
coastal trade in the late 18th through late 19th centuries, later sup­
plemented by shipbuilding and chemical products. Subsurface
testing encountered the remains of a well-preserved corduroy ford
which extends from the south to north banks of Duck Creek. The
twenty-five-foot-wide ford appears to be intact and made up of 6­
foot to 8-foot quartered logs. The angular ends of thc logs were
cut with an axe. Although a variety of artifacts were recovered
from the upper contexts of most of the shovel tests and both exca­
vation units, none were directly related to the corduroy ford; only
a few fragments of redware and brick drain pipe in the fill above
the ford were found. The ford probably pre-dates the adjacent
bridge, constructed in 1833. [Submitted by Hunter Research, Inc.,
Trenton, Nn

Opportunities for Student'i Unearthing New Castle's Past:
A Program in Public Historical Archaeology

Unearthin~ New Castle's Past, a joint program in public histor­
ical archaeology sponsored by the Department of Anthropology,
University of Delaware, and the Historical Society of Delaware, is
enriching our understanding of New Castle's history and culture in
important and exciting ways. Project archaeologists are literally
uncovering details of past life in New Castle, sharing our findings
with the public, and training students like you in archaeological
research and interpretation. The first phase of the project, a multi­
year study of the Historical Society of Delaware's Read property,
hcgan in 1992. The research centers on several interwoven con­
tex.ts: people (as individuals and in groups), place (Read property
to global contex.t), history (1650s to the present), and cultures
(encompassing themes such as family, social and economic life,
community. and urbanization). Many sources of evidence (docu­
ments, landscape, archaeological deposits, artifacts, and oral histo­
ries) are aiding team members' efforts to reconstitute and compre­
hend the material world created by the property's residents over
the centuries.

In the first two years of fieldwork, teams of University students,
area high school students, and volunteers began exploring the
nature of the archaeological remains surviVing on the Read prop­
eny. Excavations focused on the yard of a late 17th-century house
that burned in 1824; two decades later, the family residing in the



SUrviVIng, ca. 1800, house laid out a fonnal garden over the
remains of the old house and yard. The excavations revealed that
layer upon layer of archaeological deposits extend at least four feet
deep in this area. These layers contain material dating from well
before the Dutch first arrived at New Amstel (later New Castle) in
the 1650s through the present. They combine especially well-pre­
served evidence of the early house and its yard, the occupants'
possessions and daily lives, and the later gardening activities. The
archaeology has also generated much public interest. In 1995 and
1996, more than 800 visitors viewed the excavations and lab dur­
ing daily tours and special Beneath our Feet archaeology days at
the site.

The 1m program will run Tuesdays. Saturdays, June 17 ­
July 26. In addition to training a new corps of University students,
the program will again feature an archaeological camp for high
school students and a daily program of tours. The Beneath our
Feet tour will be held on Saturday, July 19. Excavations will focus
on two areas of the property: the mid-19th century formal garden
cum late 17th-eentury house yard, and the central and back por­
tions of the property occupying higher ground above the Delaware
River. [submitted by Lu Ann De Cunzo]

Maryland
Reported by: Silas D. Hurry

St. Mary's City, Maryland

Excavations were started this winter on the campus of St. Mary's
College of Maryland, in a cooperative effort between the Historic
St. Mary's City Research Department and the College Facilities
Department. The college improvement plans include primarily
disturbance from the burial of utility lines, construction of brick
walls and pathways, and the burial of a fuel tank. The archaeo­
logical mitigation occurring is limited to areas of proposed distur­
bance. During January, excavations were completed on the north­
ern portion of campus. Data was recovered showing the location
of the eastern edge of a relict ravine. This evidence will contribute
to the identification of the location of the 1676 Brick Prison, as
well as 17th century North and Middle Stre-.ets. At present, the
archaeology is concentrating on the William Hicks/John Mackall
plantation (18STI-I 10), an 18th century site. The excavations in
this area will hopefully provide some insight into when the occu­
pation of the site began and ended, in addition to clarifying 17th
century roadways and land use which occurred in this vicinity.
The archaeology on the College campus will continue until April.

Annapolis

Archaeology in Annapolis, a joint project of the University of
Maryland, College Park, and Historic Annapolis Foundation, has
conducted two seasons of field work at the Slayton House in
Annapolis, Maryland. Slayton House, owned by Historic
Annapolis Foundation, is the center section of a three-part brick
townhouse built by John Ridout in 1774. These three high-style
townhouses are rare examples of 18th-century, upper class rental
properties extant in the Chesapeake area.

Archaeological excavation, begun in the summer of 1995, was
continued in the summer of 1996 with the University of
Maryland's Field School in Urban Archaeology. Excavations took
place in the garden as well as in the ground floor of the house.
Research questions focused on the changes in the landscape of the
garden and investigation into the lives of African-American slaves
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who would have lived and worked in the ground floor rooms of the
house and in the garden. Changes in the use of the garden space
through the centuries from an 18th-century utilitarian area with
outbuildings and vegetable gardens to the early 20th-eentury for­
maJ garden, parts of which are visible today, were discovered.

Inside the house archaeologists found a number of artifacts
which have been interpreted as relating to African-American ritu­
al practices. In the northeast comer of a small storage area under
the stairs a Chinese coin and several straight pins were found. In
a unit placed at the hearth of the main kitchen fireplace, straight
pins, a small ring, parts of a ceramic doll, and a peanut shell and
hand-faceted bead, both pierced with a straight pin, were found.
Another unit contained 6 white buttons, straight pins, and a small
bead. Such items could have been used together in a charmed bun­
dle known as an nkisi which African-Americans believed could
direct the power of ancestors for the purposes of conjuring. curing
or divination. These beliefs came to the New World with Africans
and were carefully nurtured in private, surviving the rigors of slave
life in colonial America. The collections of items are similar to the
nkisi found by the Archaeology in Annapolis project during exca­
vation of the ground floor of the Carroll House site, located across
Duke of Gloucester Street from Slayton House.

Excavation at Slayton House site will continue during the sum­
mer of 1997, as the University of Maryland Summer field school
in Urban Archaeology will return for a third sea,on of excavation.
Students will be trained in aspects of field work and laboratory
processing, including the use of a transit, excavation techniques,
and artifact identification. For further information, contact
Professor Mark P. Leone or Laura Galke: IIII Woods Hall,
University of Maryland, College Park, Maryland 20742, or call us
at (301) 405-1423. For a copy of the University of Maryland's
Summer School catalog, caJl I (800) 711-UMCP.

Prince George's County

The archaeology program of The Maryland-National Capital
Park & Planning Commission (M-NCPPC) of Prince George's
County, Maryland, is currently in the initial stages of developing a
multi-year archaeologicaJ project at Mt. Calvert, located in Ea,tern
Prince George's County, along the Patuxent River. The M­
NCPPC has received a Non-Capital grant from the Maryland
Historical Tmst to begin background research and Phase I archae­
ological investigations during the spring and summer of 1997. In
addition, the M-NCPPC archaeology program will be hosting the
1997 Archeological Society of Maryland annual field session at
Mt. CaJvert from May 2nd through May 12th. Preliminary back­
ground research and archaeological testing indicate the potentiaJ
for a wide variety of intact archaeological resources.

Mt. Calvert was the site of an English colonial port town from
1683 to the 1720s and the first seat of government for Prince
George's County beginning in 1696. Several ordinaries,
dwellings, a courthouse, jail, and church were established in the
town. The town rapidly declined after the county seat was moved
to Upper Marlboro in 1721. The tract was maintained as a work­
ing tobacco plantation from the 1720s through the 20th century.
Mt. Calvert is also the site of a multi-component prehistoric site
(18PR9).

An archaeologicaJ survey of Billingsley Point (l8PR9), located
at the confluence of Westem Branch and the Patuxent River direct­
ly north of Mt. Calvert, was completed in the spring of 1996.
18PR9 is a well-documented prehistoric site visited by local avo­
cational archaeologists for many years prior to M-NCPPC man­
agement of the property and was noted by Richard Stems in his



1951 survey of Patuxent River archaeological sites.
Phase I investigations were carried out in two stages. First, a

controlled surface collection was conducted to identify discrete
areas of cultural materials. The second stage involved limited sub­
surface testing in areas threatened by erosion. Preliminary analy­
sis identified 18PR9 as a multicomponent site with artifacts from
the Late Archaic through the Late Woodland and historic materi­
als dating from the early 18th through 20th century associated
with Billingsley Point Plantation. A final report is currently being
prepared.

Phase II and III investigations are planned for Riversdale
Mansion, the early 19th century neo-cla~sical home of Charles and
Rosalie Calvert. The M-NCPPC is in the process of planning the
restoration of an extant outbuilding, construction of a new parking
area, and development of a comprehensive landscape plan.

Phase II investigations conducted by James G. Gibb and
Associates in 1995 located the remains of nine structures and over
ItO discrete features. Some of these archaeological resources will
be impacted by the restoration of the existing outbuilding.
Features uncovered by Gibb include the foundations of a water
tower, a wa~h house, a brick garden wall, and an octagonal struc­
ture which may have been a conservatory. An 1853 map of
Riversdale showing the locations of many of these landscape fea­
tures wa~ recently donated to the Riversdale Historical Society.
The M-NCPPC is currently reviewing contract bids to conduct
Phase II and III investigations.

Anne Arundel County

The Lost Towns Project, directed by Al Luchenbach and James
G. Gibb, received a $19,000 grant from the National Geographic
Society to purchase a cesium magnetometer. Remote sensing
technician C. Jane Cox and Liz West will integrate the magne­
tometer with a Global Positioning System (GPS), enabling the
team to determine the exact coordinates of detected anomalies.
The magnetometer survey results, along with those from ground
penetrating radar, will be downloaded into a base map using GIS.
The GIS map facilitates evaluation of archaeological features on a
regional and local scale.

Combining magnetometer, ground penetrating radar, GPS and
ground truthing, the Lost Towns Project explores the colonial
Maryland settlements of Providence (1649-1680) and London
(1683-1783). Both town sites extend into residential communities.
Remote sensing facilitates survey on these properties, greatly ben­
efitting public outreach.

Virginia
Reported by: Barbara Heath

Department of Archaeological Research, The Colonial
Williamsburg Foundation [submitted by Andrew Edwards]

The Colonial Williamsburg Foundation's Department of
Archaeological Research has been involved in several projects
during the past year. Many of these are long-term projects such as
the Jamestown Archaeological Assessment, the Rich Neck Project,
St. George Tucker's Garden, the Peyton Randolph Outbuildings
Project, and the Cary Peyton Armistead Archaeological Project.
The Foundation has also expanded its environmental archaeology
capabilities and collections management facilities during the past
year.
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Project Areas:

Yorktown:

Waterfront: The National Park Service Colonial National
Historical Park, the Yorktown Foundation, and the Colonial
Williamsburg Foundation's Department of Archaeological
Research entered into an agreement to conduct a site identification
survey over a portion of the Yorktown, Virginia. waterfront,
specifically the area between the Archer Cottage and Read Streets,
near the northern terminus of Great Valley Road (town lots 117
through 123). The National Park Service provided the land and
laboratory facilities, the Yorktown Foundation provided the fund­
ing for the site and laboratory supervisors, and laboratory supplies,
and the Colonial Williamsburg Foundation provided project direc­
tion and students from its annual William & Mary archaeological
field school.

Under the direction of staff archaeologist Andrew Edwards, the
purpose of the survey was to locate the remains of I8th- and 19th­
century warehouses and other buildings on the tract, to determine
the archaeological potential of the project area, and to provide a
focus for the interpretation of archaeology to the many summer
visitors to historic Yorktown.

The survey located the brick foundations of two buildings
believed to be either warehouses or stores, probably destroyed in
the 1814 fire which ravaged the waterfront. Additional test pits
recorded very complex and deep stratigraphy caused by erosion of
the hills to the south of the site and by wind/water-borne sand and
debris from the York River, bordering the northern part of the pro­
ject area. The project was conducted between May 28 and August
2, 1996, corresponding with the to-week summer session of the
annual William & Mary archaeological field school. This phase
of work was supervised by Robert Galgano, a doctoral candidate
in early American history at the College of William & Mary. After
the field school, the project was continued on weekends using vol­
unteers recruited by the Yorktown Foundation supervised by
Colonial Williamsburg staff.

Pate House: In April, 1996, a Phase I survey, conducted at the
Thomas Pate House in Yorktown, Virginia. uncovered deep strati­
graphic layers and features dating from the early 18th-century to
the present. Currently under the management of the National Park
Service, the property is being considered for reuse as a restaurant.
This will require waterproofing the basement and may later disturb
a portion of the back yard. In October 1996, Phase III excavations
began in advance of waterproofing activities. A six-foot-wide
trench was excavated around undisturbed portions of the house's
foundation. This project was directed by staff archaeologist
Andrew Edwards and supervised by project archaeologist Dwayne
Pickett.

One of the oldest standing houses in Yorktown, the Pate House
was built between 1699 and 1703 by Thomas Pate, a part-time
ordinary keeper and York River ferryman. Between 1713 and
1784 the property was owned by the prominent Digges family.
Although he still owned the Pate House, Dudley Digges moved to
a new house around 1755. Between that date and 1784, two shops
were constructed on the property, one of which was occupied by a
tailor, and the house appears to have been leased as a store.

During the course of excavations several architectural features
and a large number of artifacts were found. On the back of the
house a large bulkhead entrance was discovered that contained the
remnants of brick steps and holes in the walls for wood nosings.
Artifacts recovered from the builders' trench indicated the bulk-



head was constructed in the first quarter of the 18th century. On
the front of the house six small post holes demarcated the presence
of an early 19th-century porch, and five larger holes with molds
were also discovered that date to the second quarter of the 18th
century. The exact function of the earlier post holes has not yet
been determined.

Artifacts have helped in assessing the use of the property during
the second half of the 18th century. A number of animal bones
bearing circular cut outs and impressions from button manufactur­
ing, along with large amounts of pins, have been discovered.
These items most likely relate to the tailor who had a shop on the
property. Several items possibly related to the use of the house as
a store have also been discovered. Several coins, a coin weight
and several bale seals dating to the second half of the 18th-eentu­
ry were unearthed. Evidence of activities associated with the
Revolutionary War include a military button from the 64th French
regiment along with thousands of oyster shells, a large amount of
animal bones, and a variety of domestic artifacts. Those items pos­
sibly represent refuse from soldiers occupying the Pate House in
1781.

Williamsburg Area:

Peyton Randolph House: The Department of Archaeological
Research conducted extensive excavations in the back yard of the
Peyton Randolph House in Colonial Williamsburg's Historic Area
during the early 1980s. Another 18th century outbuilding was
investigated in 1995 as was a fence line in the summer of 1996.
The latter work was carried out with the aid of a portion of the
William & Mary Anthropology Department's annual field school
in historical archaeology. The purpose of the IO-week project was
to locate and detemline the nature of a fence that existed between
the Randolph house and the adjoining tenant structure. This par­
ticular fence was an important landscape feature that will be recon­
structed along with several dependencies in the Randolph back­
yard beginning in 1997. The small project afforded the students an
opportunity to learn how to sort out and record complex stratigra­
phy in a semiurban environment, as well as to interpret archaeo­
logical excavation to many summer visitors. Paul Moyer, a doc­
toral candidate in the College of William & Mary's History
Department directed the project under the overall supervision of
staff archaeologist Andrew Edwards.

Cary Peyton Armistead Site: In 1995, following acquisition of
the Victorian-period Cary Peyton Armistead house, the Colonial
Williamsburg Foundation moved the structure from the property to
a location outside the Historic Area. This allowed a full-scale
research project, culminating in the reconstruction of an 18th-cen­
tury structure, to begin.

The property was first acquired in 1717 but not developed until
ca. 1749 when merchant Nathaniel Walthoe built a storehouse on
a 35' by 35' section of the lot. By 1765 the records indicate that
the site was home first to a coffee house and later, in 1767, to a tav­
ern. Both were popular establishments - due in no small part to
their location adjacent to the Capitol - and both Thomas
Jefferson and George Washington accounts reveal that they were
frequent visitors.

Under the direction of staff archaeologist David Muraca and
supervised in the field by project archaeologist Mary Cate Garden,
excavation was carried out between May and December of 1996
focusing in the areas south and west of the cellar foundations and
within the interior of the basement.

Little documentary evidence exists to indicate what these build-
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ings looked like or how many buildings actually stood on the site.
With the exception of a 1765 reference to a porch on the coffee
house, there is little other information about their appearance. In
conjunction with the departments of Architectural Research and
Historical Research, the Department of Archaeological Research
is currently engaged in the process of reconstructing the history of
the site and buildings which stood there during the 18th and early
19th centuries.

Evidence for three separate porches, two 18th and one 19th cen­
tury, has now been uncovered in the area to the south of the foun­
dations. The earliest of these foundations appears to have been
constructed shortly after the coffee house began operations and
remained in place at least through the tavern period. A large
assemblage of artifacts associated with the earliest of these foun­
dations was also recovered. Numbering in excess of 10,000 arti­
facts, this assemblage is made up almost entirely of wine bottle
fragments and pipe stems.

To the west of the foundation a second group of tavern-related
artifacts was recovered. While similar in many ways to the first,
this one is considerably later and postdates the coffee-house/tavern
period. Possibly, this is refuse from one of the neighboring taverns
which was dumped over the property line.

Finally, continued excavations in the east yard uncovered a
small outbuilding which measures 10' x 10'. Artifacts recovered
from this structure suggest that it may have been contemporaneous
with the coffee house/tavern period.

Excavations concluded in December 1996, and artifacts are cur­
rently undergoing analysis.

Third Theatre Site: In May, 1996, staff archaeologist David
Muraca and project archaeologist Dwayne Pickett began test exca­
vation in block eight of Colonial Williamsburg's Historic Area in
order to uncover evidence that would help in the reconstruction of
Williamsburg's Third Theatre. This playhouse appears to have
been in existence from 176() until sometime between 1775 and
1780. People of notoriety such as George Washington and
Thomas Jefferson attended shows there, as well as members of the
middling and lower orders. Although seated according to their
social position in the boxes, pit and gallery, everyone watched the
same show.

During the cross trenching of block eight in 1942, three frag­
mentary sections of brick foundation and a large rectangular
depression were discovered. Those features are suspected of being
the remains of the Third Theatre. Two sections of the brick foun­
dation were re-exposed in hopes of uncovering features such as
robber trenches and post holes not normally observed during cross
trenching. No robbers' trenches were found, but six large post
holes were discovered that appear to connect to one of the sections
of brick foundation. Together, they form the outline of a building
measuring 42 feet 7 inches wide and over 64 feet long. This build­
ing's construction technique and long, narrow layout corresponds
to other colonial theatres, while the large rectangular depression
discovered in 1942 closely matches the configurations of the seat­
ing pit in front of the stage. Further excavations will determine
whether or not this building is indeed the Tbird Theatre.

Rich Neck (17th-Century Site): Directed by staff archaeologist
David Muraca and Phillip Levy, Ph.D. candidate in History at the
College of William & Mary, the 1996 field season was spent exca­
vating the remains of the 17th-century kitchen/quarter. Originally
built by Richard Kemp ca. 1640, this structure underwent a major
renovation sometime around 166(). The original structure mea­
sured 24' x 20', and surviving elements include a large brick fire-
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